DUNSTON’S CLUMP AND THE BRICKWORK PLAN
FIELD SYSTEMS AT BABWORTH NOTTINGHAMSHIRE:
EXCAVATIONS 1981

by
D. GARTON

SUMMARY

A cluster of enclosures attached to the brickwork plan field systems was sampled; most of
one enclosure, and the intersections of the main field ditches with the enclosures were
investigated. Three phases (I-III) of occupation were identified; nearly three quarters of the
features within the excavated enclosure could be assigned to a particular phase. In phase I the
enclosure was defined by a substantial ditch and large pits were dug; in II, a timber building
within its own yard was constructed inside the enclosure; in 111, the enclosure ditch was
replaced by a palisade and the area partitioned with at least three timber buildings erected
within the new divisions. The few artefacts recovered are difficult to date precisely, but
pottery of the late 1st century B.C. to mid Ist century A.D. came from phase Il features, with
2nd to 3rd century A.D. pottery from phase IIl. The charred wooden remains of a box with
iron fittings were recovered. Few bones survived in the acidic subsoil, but the charred plant
remains of both cleaned domestic crops and animal fodder were found.

INTRODUCTION TO THE FIELD-SYSTEMS
AND EXCAVATIONS

In 1980 Dr. Derrick Riley published Early Landscape from the Air, the result of six years
flying and mapping of crop marks on the Sherwood Sandstones of north Nottinghamshire
and South Yorkshire. These crop marks showed a previously unsuspected organised
system of land division confined to the sandy soils above 7.6m Ordnance Datum that could
be traced in patches in an area at least 40km from north to south, and 8km from east to
west.! Dr. Riley classified the field system into three types. The most common was the
brickwork plan fields which were formed by a series of long parallel boundary ditches,
usually aligned roughly east-west, with short cross boundaries dividing the strips into
fields. Their extent and regularity led to the suggestion that these fields were laid out
according to a plan perhaps based on the rivers, since the long boundaries were
approximately at right angles to and between parallel flowing rivers. Smaller single or
groups of enclosures in the field systems were thought to be farmsteads. The Dunston’s
Clump enclosure cluster (called after a nearby wood) was one such group (Fig. 1). Riley's
second type was the nuclear plan fields radiating from a central enclosure, identified in the
Rossington area of South Yorkshire only. The similarity of the field dimensions, and the
patterns of blocks of fields between long boundaries led Dr. Riley to suggest that the
brickwork plan and nuclear plan field systems were related. The third type, the irregular
fields were not ordered in a systematic manner. The enclosures associated with them were
subrectangular or oval. These irregular fields were often on low lying ground at the edges
of the brickwork plan field systems.

There were few clues to date this system of land division. Some nuclear plan fields at
Rossington were crossed at an acute angle by the Roman road from Lincoln to Doncaster,
implying that this field system was earlier than the road, and that it was laid out either in
the early Roman period or in the pre-Roman Iron Age. This early date cannot
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PLATE 2
Dunston’s Clump: crop marks photographed July 1979 by Derrick Riley.
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automatically be applied to the brickwork plan field systems. Trial trenches dug in 1976
through brickwork plan field dltches and enclosures by J. May and J. Samuels recovered
later Romano-British pottery.? Larger scale excavation would provide information not
only of the date and purpose of the investigated site, but also of the related field systems.

The excavations carried out by the Trent Valley Archaeological Research Committee
(now Trent & Peak Archaeological Trust), and reported here, form part of a long term
project for the investigation of the field systems. The excavations and the writing of this
report were funded by the Department of the Environment (now Historic Buildings &
Monuments Commission for England). The enclosure cluster at Dunston’s Clump was
chosen because the relationship between the enclosures and the field system seemed clear
on the aerial photographs; the southern enclosure (2) appeared to be contemporary with
the field system as the enclosure ditch and field system ditch were on the same alignment,
whilst a field boundary curved to meet the northern enclosure implying that the latter was
the earlier (Plates 1, 2 and Fig. 2). Dunston’s Clump was moreover one of a number of
enclosure clusters of similar plan and might be representative of a distinctive type. Finally,
it was threatened by modern farm work: deeper ploughing had resulted in soil marks being
observed showing that the upper part of the archaeological features had been destroyed
(Plate 1).

The brickwork plan fields which include the Dunston’s Clump cluster lie on a broad
north to south ridge between the rivers Ryton and Idle. This ridge is dissected by streams
and is gently undulating. The Dunston’s Clump enclosure was on a south facing slope on
the eastern side of this ridge. Enclosure 1 was sited on the top of a small knoll
approximately half way down the slope, with Enclosure 2 on a roughly level bench just
below (Fig.2). The crop marks showed two ditched enclosures (1 and 2), a small square
enclosure (3) just to the north of Enclosure 2, and a series of enclosures to the east (Fig. 2,
Plate 2). Enclosures 1 and 2 probably formed the focus of the farmstead. The eastern
enclosures had slighter ditches similar to the field system ditches and are provisonally
interpreted as small fields or paddocks. A small enclosure (4), with part of a circular
cropmark, just to the south west of the enclosure cluster may have been part of this or
another farmstead.? The western sides of both Enclosures 1 and 2 did not appear as crop
marks, but the west ditch of Enclosure 2 was located by excavation. These ditches were dug
into a clay subsoil band which was not conducive to the production of differential crop
growth and hence crop marks.

The excavation of Enclosure 2 was conducted over two seasons (9 weeks) in 1981. Two
other, smaller areas were also excavated. The first was chosen to investigate the relationship
of Enclosure 2 to the field ditch running from its north east corner (Fig. 3); the second to
investigate the junction of Enclosure 1 with the crop marks seen on aerial photographs
(Fig. 2). Fieldwalking on two occasions by the Retford Archaeological and Historical
Society and T.V.A.R.C., had located a slight concentration of burnt cobbles and pottery in
the south east of Enclosure 2. An area 20 x 20 m inside Enclosure 2 was stripped of
ploughsoil by machine in January 1981 revealing a complex pattern of features, and the post
holes of Structure 5 cut into the Sherwood Sandstones. The clarity of this structural evidence
led to further excavations in October, when most of the remaining interior of the enclosure
was stripped. The choice to investigate the structures meant that the entrance to the
enclosure was not excavated; recent applications for funds to complete the excavation of the
interior have not been successful.

The Sherwood Sandstones at this point are a pink, orange or red non-cohesive sand. A
band of solid pink to grey clay described as boulder clay on the Geological Survey Map
(sheet 101) lies adjacent and just to the west of the enclosure cluster. Periglacial features
filled with a distinct light buff silty sand with many small pebbles were present in the top of
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FIGURE 2
Dunston’s Clump: cropmarks and soilmarks recorded by aerial photography with excavated areas stippled.
Scale 1:5,000.

the sandstones. All of the feature fillings were sandy in texture and contained varying
amounts of silts, cobbles and pebbles. (In this report the word cobbles is used for large
rounded blocks, usually larger than 100 mm in length, and pebbles for small rounded stones
with a length of 10-90 mm. The cobbles recovered in the excavated features were not present
in large numbers in the subsoil on the excavated part of the site, but could have been
procured locally.) The fillings ranged from light pink-brown sands (redeposited natural
sediments) to darker and siltier browns and blacks when containing charcoal. Most of the
smaller features contained few pebbles or cobbles, so only colour and slight textural changes
in the sand could be observed in the archaeological features and layers. Some animal activity
since the abandonment of the features had blurred the edges of features and the different
fillings within them. Where features were greater than ¢. 0.2 m in width and depth different
elements, e.g. post pipes and layers could sometimes be determined; in many features slighter
than this, distinctive elements could not be clearly demonstrated. The sandstones are freely

draining and acid, so that only pottery and metal artefacts survive though the latter is poorly
preserved, and wood, seeds and bone survive only when charred.

Total excavation was not possible, so the adopted strategy was to plan all features, to
section most features and to record their profiles and stratigraphical relationships with other
features. Only where particularly informative artefacts were suspected were they more fully
excavated. Most features contained a few sherds of pottery only. Sampling for economic
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FIGURE 3
Dunston’s Clump: all features recorded in Enclosure 2. Dashed lines: features with indistinct edges; dotted lines:
features stratigraphically earlier; solid shading: small features. Scale 1:500.

data (charred seeds and bone) was carried out where soil samples of 2 kg or greater could be
seen to contain charred material. Some features were not excavated at all; they were not
thought to add significantly to the understanding of the site, e.g. isolated pits or further
lengths of excavated features. Fig. 4 shows all of the features planned and the excavated
portions. Each feature dug into the subsoil was allocated a unique site number (even if not
excavated) which is used in this report. Where a number of individual features appeared to
belong to one structure, a post-excavation structure number was given (1 to 11). These
structure numbers may refer to buildings. fence or wall lines, or any groupings of features.

The archive, comprising the primary site records, the processed records and all artefacts,
has been deposited at the Bassetlaw Museum, Grove Street, Retford. The primary site
records include fieldwalking information, context sheets, site notebooks. site plans and
sections, colour slides, black and white negatives and photograph record sheets. The
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FIGURE 4
Dunston’s Clump: features in Enclosure 2. Stipple: excavated features; solid shading: half sectioned small features;
outline: recorded in plan only. Scale 1:500.

processed records include summary context sheets, key plans to the site and processed
drawings, plans and sections, summary sheets showing artefact types by context and
specialist reports. An introduction to the site records, the photograph record sheets and all
the processed records except the specialist reports are available on microfiche at the National
Monuments Record, Fortress House, 23 Savile Row, London and the Nottinghamshire

Sites and Monuments Record, Trent Bridge House, Fox Road, West Bridgford,
Nottingham.

Three phases can be identified from the stratigraphic relationships of three features;
Structure 1, Trench 614 and Slot 612. This report is based on those phases as some 70% of
the features could be assigned to a structure or phase. Within any phase, particularly phase
I1I, there might have been several stages of development. The phases are dated by pottery
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from the Ist to 3rd centuries A.D. Some of the features assigned to phases, particularly the
pits, are not precise in that they may belong to either phase I or II, but the general sequence
seems clear. In phase I the enclosure was defined by a substantial ditch with a number of deep
rectangular pits inside it (Fig. 5). In phase Il Structure 1, within its own yard defined by
Trench 614, was constructed in the north west of the enclosure (Fig. 6). Features of phases I
and II yielded only small numbers of pot sherds dated by analogy to a period spanning the
late Ist century B.C. to the mid Ist century A.D. By phase 111 the original boundary ditch had
almost filled up. It was replaced by Slot 612, interpreted as a palisade, which was dug
through the earlier structure (Fig. 10). Inside the enclosing slot a series of divisions were
made, in which were set a number of structures 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, (Figs. 10, 11). The pottery from
the palisade slot and divisions of phase III was predominantly of the second century A.D. A
midden 1492 confined within the area of the earlier structure 1 and palisade slot 612 had
pottery dating from the late 2nd to the 3rd century A.D. Any substantial occupation of this
enclosure after phase I1I was not represented by features dug into the subsoil. The unphased
features are shown in Fig. 14.

EXCAVATIONS IN ENCLOSURE 2
PHaASE | (FIG. §5)
Stratigraphy

Phase I is the earliest occupation and includes the enclosure ditch 750, with an entrance on
the eastern side, and all those features which predated the erection of Structure 1 and its
enclosure 614. A number of deep pits were dug and back-filled.

Enclosure ditch

The enclosure ditch 750 was c. 4 m wide and up to 1.4 m deep (Fig. 8¢).# No evidence for a
bank constructed from the enclosure ditch upcast survived recent ploughing. If the phase I
pits and the enclosure ditch 750 were contemporary, then any internal bank must have been
denuded before the group of pits close to the inner lip of the ditch were dug. A bank on the
outside of the ditch remains possible. In phase II the boundary of the yard 614 was dug into
the ditch filling confirming the absence of an internal bank in this phase too (Fig. 6). All the
layers of the ditch filling were sandy with many small pebbles; the primary layers of coarse
sands suggested a rapid initial filling, followed by a stable period accumulating siltier layers
and possibly some vegetation cover (Fig. 8e). A jar, of the cordoned neck type probably
dating to the Ist century A.D. (cf. Fig. 17, no. 3), was found in the primary filling. While the
entrance to the enclosure was not excavated, the soil marks recorded by aerial photography
indicated a causeway on the eastern side approached by a ditched trackway (Fig. 2).

The north side of the enclosure ditch 750 apparently continued the line of the brickwork
plan field ditch on aerial photographs (Fig. 2). The latest filling in the enclosure ditch had
clearly truncated the field ditch, so they could not be proved to be contemporary. The field
ditch was not found at the north western corner of the enclosure ditch within the excavated
area.

Pits

The pits were rectangular and deep, with vertical sides and flat bottoms (Fig. 8i), and were
filled with redeposited natural sands. The function of these pits is unknown. There was no
evidence that they had been lined, but the lenses of coarse or silty sand on the bottom of most
of the pits suggested that they were usually left open for a short while before being back-filled
with clean sand. Most of the pits clustered inside the northern edge of the enclosure, with six
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FIGURE §
Dunston’s Clump: phase I, Enclosure 2. Dashed line: feature edge removed: solid line: feature certainly of phase:
dashed and dotted line: feature probably of phase; dotted line: feature assigned to phase on non-stratigraphic
evidence; cross hatched lines: deep, rectangular shaped pits; solid shading: small feature (post pits and post pipes not
differentiated at this scale); letters and arrows: positions of sections in Figs. 8 and 9. Scale 1:500.

single pits of the same shape elsewhere. The pits in the main group were dug on five distinct
occasions, often through earlier ones. No pits were cut by the enclosure ditch in the area
excavated: they are therefore presumed to be contemporary with the enclosure ditch. Three
of these pits were earlier than Structure 1. The single pits cannot be assigned to a precise
phase, but where stratigraphical relationships were observed, they were earlier than phase I11.

Comment

No recognisable structural evidence survived, and the lack of occupation debris from the
phase I features suggested that any domestic occupation was elsewhere at this time, perhaps
to the north in Enclosure 1. The pits were mainly confined to one area of the enclosure, and
seemed to be restricted to the earlier phases of activity. Their regular shapes with steep,
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unweathered sides suggested that either they were filled soon after excavation, or that they
were provided with covers while they were in use.

PHaASE II (FI1G. 6)

Stratigraphy

Phase Il comprises Structure 1 and Trench 614; this trench appeared to have been intended
as the boundary of a yard for the structure. Both were dug through, and were therefore later
than the pits of phase I, and both were disturbed by, and therefore earlier than, the phase I11
Slot 612,

Structure 1: the northern wall 1226/1218 was cut through pits 1540 and 1418 (Fig. 9j), the eastern wall 1410 was
cut through Pit 1516 (Fig. 91). Trench 614: the northern end was cut through Pit 900 (Fig. 5). Structure 1: the north
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FIGURE 6
Dunston’s Clump: phase 11. Enclosure 2. Conventions as in Fig. 5. Scale 1:500.
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FIGURE 7
Dunston’s Clump: Structure 1, phase II earlier (left) and later (right). In Trench 1410 the post positions cannot be
related to one construction and are therefore shown on both plans. Scale 1:200.
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wall 1218 was truncated by Trench 612 (Fig. 90, p). Trench 614: the palisade slot 612 was dug through the western
end of Trench 614 (Figs. 3, 6).

Structure 1 (Figs. 6, 7 and 9)

Structure 1 was rectangular in plan and rebuilt at least once. Two periods of construction
could be clearly shown in its southern long wall and supporting evidence came from the other
sides. In the original structure the posts on the southern long wall were grouped into three
lots of three, but were regularly spaced on the rebuilt structure. Entrances may have been
through the south wall and also through the west wall of the rebuilt structure. Post settings
outside the east wall of the main structure might have formed a yard or small annex, possibly
of a lean-to type.

CE T T F3 73

@ 750

@ 1366
S = .

FIGURE 8
Dunston’s Clump: sectionsa, b, ¢, d: Trench 614 (phase I1) and its relationships with the enclosure ditch (750) and the
post holes at its eastern entrance (956, 636, 624). Similar fillings drawn using same convention; cuts for features
denoted by a line. e, f, g, h, i: selected features. Scale 1:50.
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Structure 1 was made of timber, perhaps with wattle and daub, or cob panels between
the main uprights. Lumps of baked clay were found in the wall trench of the rebuilt south
side 780, and in 1492, a midden or destruction deposit which overlay Structure 1 (see below).
These baked clay lumps included one with a flat surface, and one with clear wattle
impressions. Cobbles in deposit 1492 may have been floor material, or part of the wall panels
between the structural timbers. The coherent plan and the size of the structure strongly
suggested that it was roofed, though no evidence for roofing materials was recognised.

Two periods of construction could be demonstrated from details of the southern long wall where Trench 780 was
dug through the northern edge of an earlier Trench 778 and post holes. The northern long wall trench. 1218 was
preceded by a wider trench, 1226 (Fig. 90, p) on the same alignment which continued to just beyond the western-
most post settings of the structure. East of Trench 1410, Trench 1226 appeared to continue as a slighter feature 1384,
of similar shape and filling, to just beyond the eastern limit of the structure. The sequence between Trenches 1410
and 1226/1384 was not entirely clear; Trench 1226 appeared to abut 1410 in plan, but might have been cut by it
(Fig. 9j); 1384 was too shallow at this point for a sequence to be demonstrated, but appeared to swing to the north,
perhaps to avoid 1410. The positions of Trenches 1226 and 1384 suggested that they might have represented the
removal of an earlier north wall while the eastern wall. marked by 1410, remained standing. Trench 1226 was dug
through several pits (1168, 1540, 1418, 1138, 1630, 1232 which are shown on phase I plan. Fig. 5), and the bottoms of
some possible post holes (1370, 1628, 1286, 1222, 1220 which are shown on phase 11 plan, Fig. 7): the latter might
have been part of the original structure though they were more deeply set than those recorded on the south side. The
phase IlI slot, 612 had a deeper area 1770 that may have held a post just to the south of 1226. It contained the earliest
filling of 612 and might have been part of Structure 1 or Slot 612.

The eastern part of the original structure was formed by a continuous trench defining the southern, 778, and
eastern sides, 1410. Trench 1410 may have remained in use in the rebuilt structure; if so, it is not clear which post
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FIGURE 9

Dunston’s Clump: sections showing the relationships of eastern and northern wall trenches of Structure 1 (phase I1)
to: phase I pits (J, k): phase I1I deposit 1492 (j, k. 1); phase III palisade slot 612 (m, o, p). Convention as in Fig. 8.
Scale 1:50.
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holes in the eastern wall were of this earlier construction. The south side of the structure, Trench 778, was continued
to the west by a line of Post Holes 986 1496. The west end of this structure was marked by Post Holes 14946,
though other divisions may be represented. The change on the southern wall from post in trench, 982, to individual
post technique, 986. may indicate a partition of the structure, but the similarity of these posts in size indicated
principal timbers and suggested a continuation of the southern wall west of Trench 778. As the post holes west of
1236 were less substantial the western end of the later structure may have been sited on a partition of the original
structure. If 1236 marked the west end of the structure the posts were grouped, with three posts at each end of the
southern wall, and three substantial posts in the centre. These central posts might indicate the position of an
entrance to the structure. An area to the east of 1410 was also enclosed by posts, some of which were paired perhaps
indicating replacement. or support of longitudinal timbers (852/854, 848/850, 898/896, 844/846). These posts might
have represented a small yard. lean-to, or annex to Structure |.

The later structure was partially rebuilt just inside the long wall of the first structure on the southern side. Within
the southern wall trench 780, the posts were set at regular intervals, but some disturbed the edge of the trench,
perhaps indicating repairs. The only certain evidence of repair was at the western end of the south wall where Post
Pipe 1722 replaced 1238, and a charcoal rich layer, 781, at the bottom of Post Pit 1164 may have been the remnants
of an earlier post pipe. The location of Post Holes 1714 and 1716 just to the south of wall Trench 780 suggested that
there might have been an entrance through the south side of the structure at this point.

The north side of the structure was formed by Trench 1218, parallel and equal in length to Trench 780. No
evidence of post settings was recovered in 1218 as a later slot 612, truncated 1218 removing all but its southern edge.
and in some places, its bottom (Fig. 90, p). The west end of the structure used both post in trench and individual post
construction, and was probably contemporary with Trench 780. The substantial post hole 1300 at the western end
of the structure might suggest a second entrance. The eastern end of the structure may not have been replaced; wall
trench 1410 appeared to have continued in use from the original structure and to have remained in use into phase
I11. The state of Structure 1 after phase 11 is discussed with deposit 1492 below.

There was little evidence for internal fittings in either phase of construction. Posts close to. and parallel with the
northern and eastern walls may have been internal fittings, additional supports or repairs to the structure: 1528,
1530 and 1586 were ¢. | m from the north wall; 1586 and 1134 were placed nearly equidistant from the long walls,
close to trench 1410 and were almost certainly part of the rebuilt structure, judging from their position. There were
three features inside, and two features outside the southern wall. The position of Post Holes 1018 and 1016 might
suggest that they were part of an entrance structure, but they may have been of a different phase as no such features
were recorded on the western side of any entrance, and their cobble packing differentiated them from the rest of the
construction. The other three features were very shallow, 1014, 984, 934. Two of the pits inside Structure 1 might
have been of this, or any other phase (Pit 1526 cut deposit 1492, and therefore belonged to phase III).

Trench 614 (Fig. 6)

Trench 614 divided the enclosure centrally from north to south and in the proportions 2:1
from west to east. It probably held a fence forming a yard for Structure 1, with an entrance in
its east side which was remodelled several times. The width of the original opening was 3.5 m.
At times it may have been as narrow as 1 m, or closed by inserting posts into it, perhaps
supporting hurdles. Post Hole 956 on its north side, and less certainly 624 on the south, might
indicate a gate. The later filling of trench 614 included a large part of a hand made pot of a
type being produced in the late Ist century B.C. and Ist century A.D. (Fig. 17, no. 2), and the
packing of a later entrance post 636 contained a group of Ist century A.D. wheel thrown
wares and late La Tene butt beaker sherds (Fig. 17, 3-5). The position of Trench 614, dug into
the enclosure ditch, would seem to have excluded any possibility of an internal bank to the
enclosure at that time.

Trench 614 had a ‘U’ shaped shallow profile (Fig. 8c. d), and had two distinctive fillings. The earlier filling was
pink to orange-brown homogeneous sand with occasional grey silty lenses at the base suggesting that 614 was an
open trench for at least a short while. The homogeneity of the sands suggested that 614 was back-filled, although a
lens of greyish silt was recorded within the sandy filling in just one place (Fig. 8c). The later filling of buff silty sand,
with many small stones was unlikely to have been derived from natural silting. This filling was similar to that of the
periglacial features on this site, but none of these were large enough to have provided sufficient material, and there is
no evidence for quarrying in the excavated area. It may have been brought into the enclosure for back-filling or as
packing for a fence, although few post pipes were recorded. Later features dug through the buff'silty sand may have
been caused by repairs to. or removal of posts (Fig. 8d). All features which cut Trench 614 are shown on the phase 11
plan except Pits 738/672/960/870, 1110/1130/1132 and 1066 which cut through the sides of the trench and are shown
as phase HI (Fig. 10). The smaller features may have represented later additions or repairs to the structure, the
digging out of posts, or have been later than the structure and placed by chance on its line. Features 954 and 1000 at
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the western end of 614 contained sherds of calcite gritted upright rim jars which would place them at least, in a phase
I1, rather than a phase I1I context. Pits dug through 614 just north of the entrance were presumably dug after 614
had gone out of use in phase III (Fig. 10).

Turning to the remodelling of the entrance through 614 (Fig. 8a. b), the position of the earlier sandy fillings within
614 suggested that the entrance was originally c. 3.5 m wide. It might have been at this time that a fence was erected
outside the ditch north of the entrance (Post Holes 1072-674). At times the entrance might have been restricted to a
width of ¢. 1 m or closed by inserting posts perhaps for supporting hurdles, in Post Holes 658 664; the last was cut
by Post Hole 636 which was a later refurbishment of the entrance. The features cutting the later filling of 614
suggested that the entrance might have had a gate, represented on the north side by Post Hole 956 (Fig. 8a).
Contemporary features on the south side of the entrance might be represented by Post Hole 624, or might have been
destroyed when the gateway was refurbished and narrowed to 3m, and a large cobble-packed post hole, 636 dug
(Fig. 8b).

The enclosure ditch 750 had filled to a depth of 0.75 m when the northern end of Trench 614 was dug into it. The
later filling of 614 (buff silty sand with many pebbles) continued into the enclosure ditch as a distinct layer (Fig. 8a).
The shallow western end of 614 (maximum 0.21 m deep) had been truncated by the uppermost filling of the
enclosure ditch which must have represented later slumping or cleaning. Thus the western end of 614 did not
indicate the depth of the enclosure ditch in phase II.

Pits (Fig. 6)

Of the twenty-four pits within the yard defined by 614 (excluding small and indeterminate
features), sixteen were cut by phase I1I features and therefore might have been contemporary
with Structure 1 (shown outlined by dots and dashes in Fig. 6). Their original functions are
unknown, though some contained rubbish in their fillings that might have been derived from
the domestic occupation in phase I1.

Pit 688 had a charcoal rich lens at its base; Pit 912 contained a sherd of a cordoned neck jar (cf. Fig. 17, no. 3) and
charcoal flecks; Pit 1076 contained cattle teeth as if set into a jaw, although bone was only present in very small
splinters; and Pit 1118 contained burnt clay fragments, with one pottery sherd in Pit 1116. Pits 856, 1082, 922 and
1026 may also have been of this period; Pit 856 contained a cattle tooth and pottery sherds of a type that bridge the
assemblages from phases II and III (p.51). Four pits were rectangular, shallow and flat bottomed, with fillings of
mottled light brown sand (858, 894, 760, 732). They were shallow versions of the earlier pits (p.23), which might
indicate similar activities. Pits 686, 962, 930, 1484, 1170, 1104, were deep rectangular pits that might have belonged
to phase II.

Other pits outside the yard defined by Trench 614 included nine pits cut by phase 111 features, and five pits outside
the phase III palisade slot 612 which might have belonged to phase I or II. With the exception of those pits just
outside the entrance to 614 (Figs. 3, 10), all unphased pits are shown on the phase II plan. Only five of these pits
contained pottery sherds (1568, 240, 16, 1356, 1002), with baked clay pieces from Pits 240 and the very top of 212, a
copper alloy brooch (Fig. 20, no. 59) from Pit 240, and charred wood, seeds and bone from Pit 401 (p.61-2).

Comment

The function of the structure and yard can only be considered within the context of the
complete enclosure complex. The excavation of Enclosure 1, and selective examination of
the other enclosures would be necessary for detailed analysis of the site's development.
Structure 1 may have been a domestic or specialist agricultural building. Its separation from
the rest of Enclosure 2 by the yard area defined by Trench 614 might suggest a farm house.
The pits within the yard appear to cluster at the edges of the yard, rather than close to the
building which might suggest that they were contemporary with it. As on any farm, the
division between domestic activities and farmwork would have been arbitrary, and Structure
1 may have served these and a number of other functions.

Puase III (FiGs. 10, 11)
Stratigraphy

Phase III was defined by the enclosing slot 612 (interpreted as a palisade) which cut, and
was therefore later than, the north wall of Structure 1 (Fig. 90, p) and Trench 614. A midden
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(1492) was confined to the west of wall 1410 of Structure 1 and to the south of Slot 612
where it truncated the north wall of Structure 1 (Fig. 9j). Slot 612 appeared to be
contemporary with successive divisions within the enclosed area. Some of these divisions
could be clearly separated into two stages of construction, referred to as phases Illa and
I1Ib: none of the structures could be assigned to any one stage with confidence so they are
referred to as phase III. A series of post hole groups have been interpreted as phase 111
structures, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 11.

The phase I1la trenches were parallel and approximately at right angles to the western slot 612. At the junction of
phase I11a Trench 6 and Slot 612, the later filling of 612 cut Trench 6; they were both cut by Post Hole 8 set within
Slot 612. One trench of much larger proportions 610, was slightly later in the sequence and was cut into the western
slot 612, but wasiitself cut by phase I1Ib Trench 632. Further partitions may have been provided by the post hole line
at the south east corner of the slot, Structure 9. Similar structures to the north, Structures 7 and 8, may have used the
slot as the fourth side in the same manner. It cannot be demonstrated that Structures 7, 8 and 9 were contemporary
with either phase I11a or I1Ib divisions. The phase I1Ib trenches were different in form, and were cut through the I11a
trenches, but they too were aligned on Slot 612. Trench 1438 stopped at Slot 612.
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FIGURE 10
Dunston’s Clump: phase I11. Enclosure 2 linear features, apparently associated post holes, and pits. Conventions as
in Fig. 5. Scale 1:500.
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Three of the post holes of Structure 3 were dug through Trench 614 and were therefore later than phase 11, though
two of the post pits 329 and 397, were cut by a linear feature 291, which was itself cut by phase I1Ib trench 4
(Fig. 12). This trench also cut one of the post pits of Structure 2, 391 (Fig. 12). The position of the southern entrance
of Structure 5 at a former opening in Slot 612 (Fig. 11), suggested that they were contemporary. With the exception
of Structure 4 which may have been erected before the phase 111b divisions, there were indications that the other
structures were erected after the I11b trenches were dug (Fig. 11): Post Hole 1606 of Structure 10 cut Trench 1564
(ITa); Post Holes 1184 and 1250 of Structure 10 cut 1438 (111b): Post Hole 238 of a possible fence off Structure 6 cut
Trench 38 (I11a); Post Hole 1684 of Structure 6 cut Trench 293 (ITIB); Post Hole 149 was possibly part of Structure 5,
it cut Trench 4 (I11b); Post Hole 467 of Structure 5 cut Post Hole 155 in Slot 612 (I1I); Post Holes 51 and 55 of
Structure S cut Trench 14 (I11a), which was itself cut by Trench 4 (111b).

The palisade slot 612 (Fig. 10)

612 was a shallow slot parallel and 2.5 to 3.5 m inside the enclosure ditch. A small gap in
the south side, and larger gaps in the north and east sides may have been entrances or may
have been closed by means that have left no traces in the subsoil. It cannot be demonstrated
that Slot 612 held posts for its entire circuit, but the bases of post settings were found
wherever excavation took place. The shape of the trench and its contents suggested
deliberate back-filling, and the lack of post pipes in plan suggested that any posts had been
removed. Its position within the enclosure strongly suggested that it held a boundary fence or
palisade. It is unlikely to have formed a revetment for a substantial bank since there was only
a narrow gap to the lip of the ditch, and the position of phase 111 features close to the slot
precluded any bank inside Slot 612. The pottery sherds from Slot 612 are romanized versions
of the phase Il types and are dated from the late 1st to early 3rd centuries A.D. (Fig. 17, nos.
8-12).

The latest filling of Slot 612 was a characteristic homogeneous yellow-brown sand with many rounded pebbles
which was probably deliberate back-filling (Fig. 9m, n, 0). On its south eastern side, excavation showed that post
settings extended below the bottom of the slot, 176, 172, 170, 287, 289, 73, though the last three might have belonged
to Structure 9. Few post pipes were visible in plan in the rest of the southern and western sides, which were not
excavated except where relationships with other features seemed likely to be recoverable, e.g. where 612 cut
through Trench 614 and where Post Hole 918 was found. At the north western corner a deeper-cut probable post
setting 1770 was recovered that could have been part of Slot 612, or Structure 1 (Fig. 9m).

The gap through the southern slot was 2.45 m wide. The slot west of this gap. cut through Pit 135, had clear post
settings, 170, 172, 176 and turned into the enclosure terminating within 1 m at Post Hole 155. The slot east of this
gap cut through a deep rectangular pit 141. North-south Trench 14 had been dug bisecting the gap leaving spaces
0.8 m and 0.9 m wide on the west and east. Into all of these features a post hole had been dug which formed part of
Structure S.

The width of the gap in the eastern slot is unknown; its north side was not excavated, but it seemed to be aligned
with the gap through the enclosure ditch known from aerial photographs. The southern part of the eastern slot
turned into the enclosure on two separate lines of which only the outer line can be demonstrated to continue from
Slot 612, as the inner line which forms an approximate right-angle with 612 was cut by Pit 216. The outer line of 612
contained the post holes for Structure 9.

The northern part of Slot 612 was wider than the southern and eastern parts. It was filled with mid brown sand
similar to, and stratigraphically equivalent to the earliest filling of Slot 612 in its western part (Fig. 9m. n, o). This
slot truncated the rebuilt north wall of Structure 1, and surely represented the removal of that wall. No post pipes
were recognised that were demonstrably contemporary with this slot, and as the distinctive stony later filling was
not recognised on the northern side where Structure 1 had formerly existed, any palisade structure may not have
extended this far east. A slot with dark brown filling did run to the north west corner of the former structure, and a
continuation of a palisade may have been represented by features dug into the earlier slot. No other boundary
structures were recognised in the 18 m gap in the northern slot.

The south west corner of the slot was not excavated, but the increased width, and evidence of disturbance in
plan suggested either substantial repairs or the removal of posts. The two large rectangular pits, 1772 and 180 dug
through the southern and eastern parts of the slot may have represented similar features. Pit 180 was excavated: it
was twice as deep as the slot: no post pipes were identified and the homogeneous mid-brown sand suggested
deliberate filling. The position and filling of Pit 180 suggested that it might have resulted from the removal of posts
in Slot 612. Pit 180 cut Post Hole 252 which was interpreted as part of Structure 9. Structure 9 had presumably gone
out of use when the palisade was removed.

It has already been suggested that there was no evidence for a bank within the enclosure in phase I1, and the fact
that the later filling of Trench 614 could still be seen within the enclosure ditch filling demonstrated that there were
no deep cleanings of this part of the ditch to refurbish any bank after phase Il (Fig. 8a). There is no archaeological
evidence to suggest that Slot 612 represented a revetment for a bank. It is possible, however, that because the
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sequence between Trench 614 and the enclosure ditch could only be seen where there was a gap in the northern side
of the slot, this area of the ditch was left silted while the rest of the enclosure ditch was recut, the upcast forming a
bank which was retained by the structure represented by Slot 612.

Deposit 1492 and Structure 1 (Figs. 10 and 8], 1).

Deposit 1492 was a dark brown silty sand containing large cobbles, varying in thickness
from 0.05 m at its edges, to 0.3 m where it had sunk into the tops of the phase I pits 1418 and
1516. There was clear stratigraphic evidence to demonstrate that 1492 was not an
occupation deposit of Structure 1 (phase II) but must have been of later date. Deposit 1492
appeared to have been confined to part of the area previously occupied by Structure 1.
There was no archaeological evidence which would demonstrate that Structure 1 was
re-erected at this stage; no post hole groups with coherent plans later than the rebuilt
structure could be demonstrated, though some of the previous structural elements could
have been retained or the structure rebuilt without subsoil foundations as has been found in
other Romano-British structures.® The southern wall of Structure 1 was removed and a
destruction deposit overlay the wall trenches; these deposits cannot be related
stratigraphically to 1492, but they contain similar pottery types (Table 2, nos. 33-41).
Deposit 1492 contained part of a quern stone (Fig. 22, no. 70), an iron punch (Fig. 20, no.
49), and the only large pottery group from the site dating from the late 2nd to 4th centuries
A.D. (Fig. 19, nos. 33-40); it may be interpreted as a midden or destruction deposit
accumulated after Structure 1 had gone out of use.

Both 1410 (the east wall trench of Structure 1) and 612 (the slot which truncated the north
wall trench of Structure 1) were in part covered by 1492, but it was not recorded east or
north of them. It is not known whether 1492 was formerly more widespread, and its original
extent destroyed by recent ploughing, or whether it was confined either by the remaining
elements of Structure 1, e.g. part of the wall erected in trench 1410 (Fig. 9k.I), or by other
structures which may be represented by the features dug into the later filling of Slot 612 (e.g.
1512, Fig. 9k).

Phase Illa divisions (Fig. 10)

The phase Illa divisions comprised Trenches 6, 38, 297, 1704, 1564, 1600, 610, and
perhaps 14 and 640. Trench 14 bisected the southern gap in Slot 612, and therefore was
probably contemporary with 612. It was cut by the post holes of Structure 5, and the phase
ITIb Trench 4, so it may have belonged to the phase I11a divisions though it was not dug on
the same alignment. Trench 640 was parallel to Slot 612 and of similar size to the phase I11a
trenches, so may have belonged to this phase of enclosure division. It was cut by the later
filling of Trench 610 which may have represented the removal of posts.

Although few post pipes could be seen in plan, the steep sides of Trenches 6 (Fig. 8f), 38
and 297 suggested that they had been dug as settings for posts, and despite the minimum of
excavation, post holes were found in Trench 38. The post settings in Trench 1600 were clear
as the posts had sunk slightly into the soft sand below the bottom of the trench. A post hole
line to the east and approximately parallel to Trenches 1 564/1704 and 6, 38 and 297 may have
been part of these arrangements (i.e. Post Holes 16501684, 269-248, Fig. 11) though they
can be interpreted more economically as parts of two structures, 4 and 6 and are discussed
below. These phase Illa trenches probably held fencing and formed small stockades.

The western terminal of Trench 610 was dug into, but not beyond Slot 612; it might have
been an adjoining structure. Trench 610 was 0.35-0.70 m deep. and up to 1 m wide with a
steep side on the south and a stepped side on the north (Fig. 8h). The primary filling of
homogeneous red sand may have been deliberate back-filling; the later filling in the wider
trench was a pebbly mid brown sand. The shape suggested that this trench might have held
posts, though none were found, so the stepped north side, and later filling might reflect the
removal of any posts. A trench of this large size could have held a very substantial structure.
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The alignment of Trench 610 inside and nearly parallel to the former Trench 614 suggested a
continuing separate function for this area in phase Illa, although Structure 1 was derelict.
The pottery from the later filling of Trench 610 was of the same types as that from Slot 612
and dated from the late Ist to 3rd centuries A.D.(Fig. 17, nos. 15-20).

Structures 7, 8 and 9 (Fig. 10)

Structure 9 could represent a small compound for stock, or perhaps a lean-to against a
palisade. Structures 7 and 8 were aligned similarly to Structure 9 suggesting the line of an
eastern slot; the excavated post holes were slight. The gap between Structures 8 and 9 was
aligned with the causeway through the main enclosure ditch known by aerial photography:
this perhaps indicated that this entrance was still in use at this time.

Some of the post holes of Structure 9 were set into Slot 612. The northern Post Holes 2101736 (0.06-0.15 m
deep), were distinguished from the slot by their packing cobbles, dark brown sand and charcoal fillings; the southern
Post Holes 287-73 (0.15-0.25 m deep), had only slightly darker fillings than the slot. The precise position of all these
post holes within the slot strongly suggested a repair or replacement. The post holes of Structure 9, roughly parallel
to the palisade, were similarly shallow to those setin the slot (0.1-0.2 m deep); no post pipes were recorded except for
one post set into a large pit 399 (0.49 m deep). Structure 9 was erected before part of the timber work of 612 was
removed as Pit 180 cut Post Hole 252. The position of Structure 9 suggested that the palisade represented by Slot 612
might have been an integral part of the structure.

Phase I11b divisions (Fig. 10)

The phase Illa divisions were replaced or supplemented by four parallel east-west
trenches, 4, 293, 632, 604. These trenches c. 0.5 to 1.4 m wide survived as shallow features
only (maximum 0.1 m deep); no evidence of post settings was found. They were filled with
compact mid to dark brown silty sand which although darker, siltier and less stony than the
fillings from the other trenches dug to hold posts, was probably the result of deliberate
filling. The increased evidence for burrowing animals in these trenches suggested a once rich
humic soil filling; perhaps they might be interpreted as cultivation features such as bedding
trenches for hedges, rather than fences. The alignment of the ends of these features, the
abutting of Trench 1438 to Slot 612, and their disturbance by later features precluded their
interpretation as medieval plough furrows. Four slight post holes (305, 423, 419, 421)
parallel to, and between Trenches 632 and 293 may be a further partition during this phase.

The northern trench (604) was longer than the others separating the area formerly
occupied by Structure 1. If Trench 604 was intended as a boundary, it may account for the
large gap (¢. 18 m) in the northern side of the palisade slot. Access over the partially filled
enclosure ditch would have been easy at this time.

The pits (Fig. 10)

Eight pits were dug through phase Il Trench 614 (Fig. 8a); of these, three 738, 1066, 1110
contained lenses of charred material which could have been derived from occupation in
phase III. Pit 1066 contained charred worked wood (Fig. 21, nos. 60—6) and iron fittings
(Fig. 20, nos. 50-8), both perhaps parts of a wooden box (p.52), and charred plant remains
(Table 3). Pit 1110 contained charred plant remains (Table 3).

Pits just outside of the entrance to the phase Il yard formed by Trench 614 (1330, 1210,
1212) might have been dug after the yard went out of use and would therefore have belonged
to phase I11. At least four pits 180, 1772, 370, were dug into the palisade slot 612; they may
have indicated the end of the structure. Pit 216 cut the inner edge of the palisade trench; 1t
contained a lens of charred material which included a few plant remains (Table 3). Pit 1526
abutted deposit 1492 in the area of Structure 1; it was not masked in plan by deposit 1492 so it
may have represented one of the later stages of phase III.

The pit which was cut into the outer edge of the north west enclosure ditch (Fig. 3),
contained sherds of grey ware pottery. It was cut into the latest filling of the enclosure ditch.
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It had a shallow sloping profile, and lacked internal and external post holes. The grey-brown
colour of its filling was similar to the modern ploughsoil, and might be recent.

Structures 2 and 3 (Fig. 11 and 12)

Two structures consisting of four posts were located. The posts that formed Structure 3
were the largest and deepest on the site (0.27 m across, 0.6-0.7 m deep). Two of the posts 381
and 329, had been placed on large flat cobbles; Post 387 had no padstone and had sunk into
the soft sand at the bottom of the pit. These posts, with 397, formed a rectangle 3.5 x 1.3 m,
measured from post centres. Structure 2 formed a similar setting 3.2 x 1.2 m with posts up to
0.22 m wide and 0.4-0.65 m deep. Two of the pits, 465 and 379, were similar in shape though
it was clear from the disturbed upper deposits in 379 that the post had been withdrawn. The
similarity in filling of 379 and 303 suggested that 303 had once contained a post which had
also been removed. Post pits of both structures were cut by features dividing the enclosure in
phase III; but Structure 3 might have remained in use as its post pipes were not disturbed.
The large size of the posts suggested that they might have supported a heavy structure.

1444
1446

o 5 25m 0 40 ft

FIGURE 11
Dunston’s Clump: phase 111, Enclosure 2 structures. Conventions as in Fig. S except dotted outline: possibly
contemporary features: stipple: clay lined features, possibly phase I11. Scale 1:500.
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FIGURE 13
Dunston’s Clump: Structures 4, S and 6, phase III1. Conventions as in Fig. 12. Scale 1:200.

Structure 5 (Figs. 11 and 13)

Structure 5 was rectangular in plan and was marked by individual post holes. The post
holes survived as shallow features (maximum 0.4 m deep, average 0.2 m deep), with little
evidence for post pipes. Both long walls and the west end of the structure were formed of
single posts. Although more post holes were recorded on the northern long wall, the posts
could have been paired with those of the southern long wall, e.g. 115/143; 113/75; 96/77:
98, 109, 111/467; 91, 105/55; 119/28; 123/69; this would have left additional posts on the
northern wall only at the eastern and western corners, and at the doorway. At the east end of
the building there was a double row of posts ¢. 0.6 m apart which might have been part of the
original construction as they appeared to be paired 121/257; 107/174; 250/162; 71/259;
alternatively they might have been repairs. Opposed doorways were set approximately one
third of the way along the long walls. Post holes within the structure might have represented
internal fittings. The area to the west of the doorways might have been screened to form a
separate room using Post 89. Five post holes 149, 151,433, 32, 192 and one possible post hole
only represented as a stain (dashed in Fig. 13) were recovered parallel to, and 1 m from the
northern long wall of the structure; they might be interpreted as an external fence, buttresses,
a lean-to structure or verandah.
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Structure 5 was of individual post construction, and as pieces of baked clay with stick
impressions were found in some of the post holes, probably had wattle and daub panels. As
in Structure 1, cobbles could have been used as a flooring or walling material. The size and
coherent plan of the structure suggested that it was a roofed building, although no roofing
materials were found.

The northern doorway was marked by three post holes on the west 98, 109, 111, and perhaps by 433 too. and two
on the east 91, 105, and the southern doorway by Post Hole 467 with evidence for three post pipes on the west, and
Post Hole 55 on the east. Both post holes of the southern doorway cut phase III features 14 and 55 of an earlier
entrance through the boundary slot 612. This re-use of the palisade entrance may indicate that it was still standing
when Structure 5 was erected. Five post holes interpreted as part of Structure 9 (dotted in Fig. 13) were within two
metres of the eastern wall of Structure 5; this proximity perhaps made it unlikely, but possible, that these structures
were contemporary. Two post holes at the north west corner 242, 244, and one along the north wall 103, might have
been contemporary with the structure though their dark brown sand and burnt cobble fillings were dissimilar to
those of the building construction.

Structures 4 and 6 (Figs. 10, 11 and 13)

The post holes between phase I11a trenches 6/38/297 and 1564/1704 that were not clearly
part of Trench 1600 can be interpreted either as phase 111 divisions, or two structures. The
latter interpretation is preferred since the post holes could not all have been dug at the same
time: some were cut and were therefore earlier than, and some were cut by and were therefore
later than, the phase I1Ib trenches, 293 and 4.

Structures 4 and 6 are interpreted as two small rectangular structures (5 x 2.4 m,
4.5 x 2.3 m) marked by features thought to be post holes (maximum depth 0.3 m, minimum
depth 0.05 m); no post pipes were recognised. These structures were formed by two parallel
lines of six to eight posts, each with one internal post 261 and 1646, halfway along the length
of the structure, but closer to the eastern side. The position of the post holes in the long walls
of Structure 6 suggested that they might have been paired across the structure. Outside
Structure 6 was a clay lined pit 1554 and a line of post holes 1620 to 238, some of which
appeared to be double, which might have held a contemporary fence. Structures 4 and 6
might have been open or roofed pens, or storage facilities, but they were probably too small
for dwellings.

The post holes between the phase I11a trenches 6/38/297 and 1564/704 might have been two long north-south lines
of post holes 16501684 and 269248, one shorter north-south line of post holes 16781580, and two east-west lines,
1678-1696 and 1620-238, connecting the north-south lines. They might then have formed part of the phase I11a
divisions (1602 and 265 were cut by phase IIIb Trench 4) or phase I1Ib divisions (238 cut phase I11a Trench 38 and
1684 cut phase I11b Trench 293), but if Trenches 293 and 4 were contemporary, then the post holes could not have
formed contemporary continuous lines. An alternative interpretation that these post holes formed similar sized
rectangular structures, 4 and 6, would not only account for most of the post holes in this area, but also explain the
larger gaps between Post Holes 1598 and 1696, and 265 and 248 in the north-south post lines. removing the
stratigraphic difficulty of demonstrating that all of these post holes were contemporary. Post Hole 1684 of Structure
6 cut the phase IIIb Trench 293, making Structure 6 one of the latest features on the site. The position of Structure 4
in the site’s chronology is less secure. It cut Pit 1640; as there were no demonstrable phase I11 examples of this type of
deep, rectangular pit, this suggested that Structure 4 was part of phase I11. Two post holes, 1602 and 265 were both
cut by phase I1Ib trench 4. It was not clear whether these post holes were part of Trench 1600. since they occurred on
its line, or whether they formed part of Structure 4. The plan of Structure 4 would be closer to that of Structure 6 if
the two post holes were not associated with it.

The long walls of Structure 4 were parallel to and the same length as the end wall of Structure 5 (and Trench 6).
and could be a contemporary structure, but the large gap with no post holes between Structures 4 and 5 precluded
their interpretation as one structure. Structure 4 was likely to be of phase III.

Structures 10 and 11 (Figs. 10 and 11)

The group of post holes and other features between the western slot 612 and the
north-south division 1564/1704 might have been part of two structures. Features of
Structure 10 included post holes with replaced posts, cobble packed post holes, and larger
features with cobbles in their fillings. They ranged from 0.04-0.37 m deep and formed an
approximate rectangle in shape, with the southern post hole line at right angles to the long
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axis of Structure 6. A clay lined pit was found on this post hole line, 1366. Structure 10 could
represent a pen; the irregularity of the size and position of the features perhaps makes a
roofed structure unlikely.

A group of features just to the south of Structure 10 might have formed part of that
structure, or another. If these features were a separate group, their stratigraphical position
cannot be determined; they were not aligned with the other phase I1I structures. Most of the
posts had been replaced once (depths 0.12-0.35 m), and all except one of these features
contained considerable quantities of fired clay, several pieces of which had stick impressions
perhaps the marks of wattle. Features of group 11 might have been a small structure, of
which part was of wattle and daub construction. Three clay lined pits (1444, 1446, 1456)
might have been part of that structure.

Clay-lined features (Figs. 11 and 8g)

Eleven clay lined features were found. They were of three shapes: straight sided,
cylindrical pits with flat bottoms and silty fillings 139, 754, 1366. 1554 (0.6-1 m across,
0.3-0.35 m deep); basin shaped pits with silty fillings 618, 1444, 1446 (0.5-0.75 m across,
0.17-0.3 m deep); and clay filled features 694, 1306, 1408, 1456 (perhaps only the bases of
basin shaped pits, ¢. 0.5 m across, 0.15 m deep). Four were positioned beside probable or
possible phase III structures, e.g. 1554 by Structure 6, 1366 by Structure 10 and 1444 and
1446 by Structure 11, and one 618, was dug through the phase I11b Trench 604. The other clay
lined features could not be assigned to any phase or feature group though 1408 and 1306
were within and close to the west entrance of Structure 1. They might have been clay packed
post holes, but the better preserved had been carefully lined and contained an unusual grey to
black silty filling. They may have been used for storing liquids, or if adequately covered, for
dry storage. They are unlikely to have been for storing clay as the enclosure ditch was dug
through a clay subsoil band on the western edge of the enclosure.

Comment

Phase I1I represented a series of stages, all of which appeared to have been contemporary
with the palisade slot 612. The functions of the different areas within the enclosure appeared
to have changed from phase Il to phase III. Structure 1 (phase II) was derelict and was
probably used as a midden in phase III; it continued to be separated from the rest of the
enclosure after the end of Trench 614 in phase 11 by Trench 610, which probably held posts,
and later by Trench 604, which may have held a hedge. The pottery from the midden deposit
1492 is of long lived types current from the late 2nd to 4th centuries A.D. with some slightly
earlier pottery from the palisade slot 612 and internal divisions. The southern part of the
enclosure was divided on two occasions into smaller compounds. There was no evidence for
the initial function of these compounds though they might have been used for stock, whereas
the structures were apparently set in the spaces created by the later divisions. This shift in the
focus of settlement leaves an apparent discontinuity of dwelling within the enclosure, since
Structure | was dismantled when Slot 612 was established and it was only when Trench 14 of
phase IIla was removed that Structure 5 could be erected. As in the previous phases, any
detailed interpretation of the function of these structures and divisions would require a
knowledge of the sequence and structures in other parts of the enclosure cluster.

Any interpretation of the length and end of phase 111 must be tentative as the remains of
most of the features are heavily truncated, and many features (particularly Slot 612 and the
divisions) were not completely excavated (Fig. 4). Despite the demonstrable sequence of
stages within phase 111, there was little clear evidence for the rebuilding or refurbishment of
any of the structures or divisions, with the exception of the enclosing slot 612, and these
changes may have related to the different stages within the boundary slot. This might suggest
that the stages within phase I1I were of relatively short duration. The lack of post pipes in the
post pits forming the structures, and their absence in plan in the partitions and in Slot 612
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FIGURE 14
Dunston’s Clump: unphased features, Enclosure 2. Solid shading or outline: unphased: other features shown
dotted. Scale 1:500.

(though possible post hole bases were identified) might suggest that these posts were
deliberately removed. This suggested that the enclosure was cleared after phase I1I and was
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